United Nations Ac.353/5R.18

General Assembly Distr.: General

V Fifty-third session 25 March 1999
N\ o English
=7 (Official Records Original: Spanish

Third Committee

Summary record of the 18th meeting
Held at Headquarters, New York, on Tuesday, 20 October 1998, at 3 p.m.

Chairman M HaChani .. (Tunisia)
later: Mr. Ball (Vice-Chairman) ............ ... iiiiiiiniinennn.. (New Zealand)

Contents

Agenda item 106: Promotion and protection of the rights of children

This record is subject to correction. Corrections should be sent under the signature of a member of the
delegation concernedithin one week of the date of publicatibmthe Chief of the Official Records
Editing Section, room DC2-750, 2 United Nations Plaza, and incorporated in a copy of the record.

Corrections will be issued after the end of the session, in a separate corrigendum for each Committee.

98-81747 (E)


<<ODS JOB NO>>N9881747E<<ODS JOB NO>> <<ODS DOC SYMBOL1>>A/C.3/53/SR.18<<ODS DOC SYMBOL1>> <<ODS DOC SYMBOL2>><<ODS DOC SYMBOL2>> 


A/C.3/53/SR.18

The meeting was called to order at 3.07 p.m 4. It was also essential to mobilize non-governmental
organizations throughout the world. To that end, he had met
with the heads of organizations working in that area, whose

Agenda item 106: Promotion and protection of the responses had been very positive. Non-governmental
rights of children (A/53/41, A/53/57, organizations elaborated programmes at the national and
A/53/72—-S/1998/156, AI53/95-S/1998/311, AI53/281, international levels and formed coalitions to address one or
A/53/311 and A/53/482) more aspects of the agenda for the protection of children

1. Mr. Otunnu (Under-Secretary-General, Speciagffected by armed conflict.

Representative of the Secretary-General for Children agd At the regional level, he had tried to promote initiatives
Armed Conflict) said that, since his appointment, he hag rajse awareness of the issue of children affected by armed
carried out four main types of activities. First, he had engagegnfiict, to encourage greater attention to that problem and
in advocacy efforts on the need to protect children, targetigg mobilize the necessary political support. In J1898, a
both the general public and Governments, non-governmeni@h-level symposium on the issue had been held in London.
organizations, the media and other organizations of ciyi November, a meeting would be held in Tokyo for the Asia-
society, with a view to encouraging their active participationp gcific region, and the following year a meeting would be
Second, he had promoted the implementation of existing|q in Africa at the initiative of the Organization of African
national and international provisions, since legal instrumerltﬁ“ty_ Moreover, he had established numerous contacts with
were useless unless they were translated into practiggd media with a view to giving more publicity to problems

actions. Third, he had launched specific initiatives on th@jated to the issue of children and armed conflicts. Those
ground to create protected areas for children in conflict zonggintacts had already begun to bear fruit.

those initiatives includednter alia, demining operations and

the provision of humanitarian aid to meet the needs ofsuéh_ _ Lfmtelefmons ahgenC|es shouldfbi_tlf;e first to ipplytl;e
children. Fourth, he had addressed post-conflict activities. [Ilﬁ'ncr:p ((jes re a“”g :]0 the prote_ctlon of children. To that Tnf '
that connection, the United Nations Development Program & ha m_et wit t_ € As&_stant Sec_retar_y-Genera or
(UNDP), the World Bank and other bilateral and muItiIater:ﬁeacm«a("‘plng Operations tq discuss various ISSUes reIa’Fed to
assistance agencies should, from the outset, include in th%\? conducltdofbpeacekjeplgg personndel. Ahjomt W?rk'glg
rehabilitation and reconstruction programmes measures¥@UP Wwou e mandated to consl er ,t € applicable
meet the needs of children. provisions in that area and to prepare training programmes

] o _on the subject.
2. He attached great importance to country visits, which

had a threefold objective: to gain first-hand knowledge of thie The report .he had prepared for t.he Gen'eral Assembly
situation of children in armed conflicts, to draw attention 1f\/53/482) contained 12 recommeqdaﬂons which, he tru§ted,
the plight of such children and, to the extent possible, mould be analyseq by deIegatpns in the context of a fruitful
propose initiatives. In Jurkk998 he had presented an informafiialogue. In his view, .the most |mportapt problgm Was'how
report to the Security Council, which was the United Natiorf@ €nsure the practical implementation of international

organ responsible for the maintenance of peace and secuRf@Visions and local values on the ground. That meant, above

Following his presentation, a public debate had taken D'a@é,’ that Governments should incorporate the issue of children

on the basis of which the Security Council had adoptedfﬁ'd armed conflicts into their foreign poli.cies and. should
statement by the President. That statement was an imporﬂéﬂ?ertake to exert pressure on warring parties that

instrument for promoting the protection of children aﬁecteﬁyStemat'ca”y m|strgated children and women. They werein
by armed conflict. a position to do so, since they were the ones that provided the

o ) ) ) latter with financial support and weapons. Those who
3. He had participated actively in the process which hagmmitted such atrocities must be made to pay theiitipal
Court. He was pleased that the Statute contained provisiafigtement by the President of the Security Council, which he
on abuses committed against children, particularly their usgd mentioned earlier, and to the need to strengthen the

in armed conflicts and the need to prevent military attacks @fhuncil's commitment to ensuring the protection of children
hospitals and schools. It was important to make use of thatarmed conflicts.

instrument even before the Court began to function, since the
Statute represented a very important innovation in
international law.



A/C.3/53/SR.18

8.  As mentioned earlier, non-governmental organizations sides needed the support of the outside world to obtain funds
played a vital role, since the agenda for the protection of and weapons and to legitimize their actions. For that very
children affected by armed conflict could not remain reason, the international community and individual States
exclusively the responsibility of the intergovernmental system could take advantage of that dependency to exert pressure
and of Governments. Such organizations made contributions  with a view to preventing women and children from being
in many areas, such as by building a movement of advocacy further victimized by armed conflicts.

at both the national and international levels and, in the ¢ Ms. Calcetas-SantogSpecial Rapporteur on the sale

of _organizati_ons working in the_ field, by actively defendin%f children, child prostitution and child pornography) said that
children during and after conflicts. They also served as e report she had submitted to the Commission on Crime

important source of independent and objective 'nformat'oﬁrevention and Criminal Justice at its seventh session, held

!“3.1?“3./’ they played an _|mpo_rtant role in following UPin Vienna, had called for the adoption of initiatives to address
initiatives on the ground in various countries.

the practical difficulties encountered by child victims in the

9.  Monitoring was a political issue for both Governments justice system. She welcomed the news that a draft manual
and non-governmental organizations. It was important that for victims in general had been prepared. However, she
Governments should let it be known that they closely followed regretted that, while protective measures for children in
developments in conflict situations and that they were actively  conflict with the law, such as the Beijing Rules, the Riyadh
engaged in ensuring that the warring parties honoured their ~ Guidelines and the Tokyo Rules, had long been in place, no
commitments. In that connection, a number of proposals on international provisions had been adopted to prevent the
the establishment of monitoring mechanisms were under various forms of multiple victimization of children who
consideration. Second, it was important to understand that, appeared before courts of justice as victims.

in addition to international instruments, the value systems le From 21 to 25 September 1998, at the invitation of the

individual societies represented another basic means(%vernment she had conducted a field visit to the Lao
protecting children in armed conflicts, since one of the maj '

biecti f ety had al b h . 'Igﬁople's Democratic Republic to study, in particular, the
0 !ectlves otany SO?'ety ad always been the protectionak, ¢ of trafficking in children; the report on that mission
children, who were its most vulnerable members. In so

) MNould be submitted to the Commission at its next session. The
cases, those value systems had deteriorated almost to the

£ di i | " pf?)'fpéwing month, she would conduct her second mission,
o. isappearing. It was necessary to sgpport communities t'{}\ﬁ{ich would consist of a visit to Belgium.

tried to restore such values in order to ensure

complementarity between local efforts and thé5. She had attended the Conference on Commercial Sexual

implementation of international instruments and programmesXploitation of Children in the Baltic Sea Region, held in
10.  With tt ; flict activities. the int i Tallinn, Estonia, on 3 and 4 September 1998. From 30
) th respect to post-conflict activities, the Internationage e per 1o 2 October, she had participated in the Second

community should apply the lessons learned and dissemingt tional Conference on Children, Young People and
knowledge of best practices that had already proved to Bmestic Violence, held in Brisbane, Australia, at which she

effective. The aim was to protect children as effectively 4¥ad delivered the keynote address. In that connection, she

possible. took the opportunity to request countries for information on

11. Itwas necessary to raise the minimum age established domestic violence. She had also participated in a symposium
in the Convention on the Rights of the Child for the heldinthe framework of the Asia-Europe Meeting, which had
recruitment and participation of children in armed conflicts. taken place in London from 6 to 8 Odt®#88r and had

The legal limit of 15 years was too low and should be raised given the expert’s address on the prevention of commercial
to 18 years. He supported initiatives to amend the relevant sexual exploitation. On that occasion, she had recommended
provision. the exchange of information on models that had been

12. It was also important to conclude agreements at tfBPlemented successfully in various countries.

regional level to prohibit not only the recruitment, kidnapping 16. Her previous reports had focused mainly on the
and use of children in armed conflicts, but also the transfer commercial sexual exploitation of children through
of small arms and the laying of landmines. Those were prostitution arqguaphy because that area had been in
transboundary problems that must be addressed through urgent need of attention. The current report, in contrast,
agreements between the countries in the affected areas. Inan focused on the sale and trafficking of children for any
interdependent world, no warring party, whether a purpose, including commercial sexual exploitation.
Government or an insurgency group, acted in isolation. All



A/C.3/53/SR.18

17. The sale and trafficking of children was a difficult issue, 22. The traditional patterns of trafficking in children had
primarily because information on the subject was scarce. That been changed by the global economic recessionlithie instabi
might be attributable to a lack of understanding of the of countries in transition, the stricter enforcement of stiffer
concepts of sale and trafficking. As yet, there was no penalties for the exploitation of children, the dislocation
international definition of sale; consequently, it was hard to caused by disasters, both natural and man-made, more
distinguish between sale and trafficking, or even to determinenoviative modes of recruitment and transportation and the
whether such a distinction existed. For that reason, her report more sophisticated equipment used by traffickers. Moreover,
dealt with sale and trafficking without treating them as in certain parts of the world, trafficking prevention strategies
distinct or separate categories. that were successful in other countries might be ineffectual

18. The concept of sale was basically a commercial chause of geographical differences. For example, no matter

mercantile one that dealt only with real, personal or intangibnao"‘{I t'%ht_ the Igobrd_er con_ttr)(l)ls were betvt;/een flr_'aE'S anfd
property and in which the consideration was usually the prig@% an t’)'t would be impossible to prevent th::;tra ICking 0
in money. The traditional concept of sale had clear parametgrg ren because it was very easy to cross th&dag river.

that differentiated it from other commercial transactions such  23. It seemed that the sale of children had become a more
as barter or leasing. Those parameters were often blurred in  profitable business than drug trafficking; it now ranked
the case of sale of children. Those issues must be resolved if second only to the arms business. If that was indeed true,
international attention was to be drawn to that violation of the  children all over the world were threatened and appropriate
rights of children. It must be determined whether a sale took measures needed to be adopted to protect them. To that end,
place only when the transaction was made for money or the United Nations should mainstream the question of
whether the concept could include exchanges for goods or for  children into all its programmes.

special favours. 24. Mr. Ndiaye (Director, Office of the United Nations

19. Itwas also necessaryto define the nature of the transfer High Commissioner for Human Rights) said that respect for
of custody of the child from one person to another as aresult the rights of the child had become one of the priorities in the
of the sale. According to her proposed definition, the transfer  United Nations system-wide action on human rights. Due to
must have some degree of permanence of either the physical the quasi-universal ratification of the Convention on the
custody of the child or parental authority over the child. That Rights of the Child children were no longer “invisible” but
point was crucially important for dealing with cases such as had become a priority item on the international agenda. While
prostitution or pornography, since the characteristics of the the primary responsibility for achieving the goals of the
sale of children to brothel owners would differ from those of Convention rested with States, worldwide solidarity was
pimping, which could be likened more closely to lease of required in order to ensure the effective protection and
service, as the transfer of the child was strictly temporary. ~ promotion of the rights of the child. In that regard, it was

20. In certain cases, the term trafficking was used Qcouraging that most United Nations agencies and bodies
synonymous with sale, while in others it implicitly carried ad incorporated the spirit and standards of the Convention

with it the added requirements of the transportation of tHato tlhelr man'(oj\at(_es. He hlngd thatkthe Ul(rjnted NatIOI:]S
subject of trafficking within a country or across borders: evelopment Assistance Framework would ensure the

Previously, it had applied mostly to drug cases, but it hd plementation of the recommendations of the Committee on

recently been expanded to include commercial sexJQle Rights of the Child and of the Special Rapporteurs.
exploitation, specifically of women and girl children. One 25. The Office of the United Nations High Commissioner

additional complication was that it was closely linked to  for Human Rights was making efforts to integrate the question
migration. of the rights of the child into its overall policies, activities and

21. There were strong indications that the greateggogrammes, and to support existing efforts to prevent and
percentage of sale or trafficking of children was fOFombatthetrafﬁcking of women and children. Since the high

commercial sexual exploitation or adoption. Adoption shoufUMper of reports on the implementation of the Convention
be examined in greater depth since most Governments weHPMmitted by States to the Committee on the Rights of the

reluctant to strictly enforce laws regulating it because th(%;”d had generated a very heavy workload for that

believed that adopted children would have a better famifg°™mmittee, the Office of the High Commissioner had

situation. Other purposes for the sale or trafficking of childrelg"Mulated a plan of action to provide substantive support to

were labour, criminal activities, war, sports and begging. ("€ Work of the Committee and to assist in transforming
recommendations into reality through the provision of

adequate resources, coordination with partners within the



A/C.3/53/SR.18

United Nations system and non-governmental organizations, publicity by using the mass media to promote his cause. In
and follow-up. The General Assembly had adopted by addition, special awards could be instituted for activities
consensus the amendment to the Convention, increasing from relating to the protection of children affected by armed
10 to 18 the membership of the Committee, with a view to  conflict. His delegation wished to know what role the
enabling it to carry out its mandate more efficiently. To date, Economic and Soaiaidll could play in the forthcoming

63 out of the 120 States needed for the entry into force of the  year with respect to the question of children in armed conflict
amendment had accepted it. and in post-conflict situations.

26. During the period covered by its biennial report 30s.Zoumanigui(Guinea) asked for more information
(A/53/41), the Committee on the Rights of the Child had held on the results of the appeal made by the Special
its twelfth to seventeenth sessions. Since then, it had held two Representative for implementing a pilot project for the
other sessions in the course of which it had considered reports  rehabilitation of Sierra Leonean children.

submitted by 44 States parties to the Convention, and hglf Mr. Kamitani (Japan) said that the Special
held a general discussion on children and HIV/AIDS. Thﬁepresentative should give his views on the working

Office _Of the High Comrmssmner' hoped that the aloloropr'af"m’leationships among the various bodies of the United Nations
attention would be paid to that item. system with respect to the question of children in armed

27. Mr. Sucharipa (Austria), speaking on behalf of the conflict and on what steps could be taken to promote such
European Union, said that the European Union would relationships. His country, which would organize a
incorporate into its programmes the protection of children in  symposium sponsored jointly by the office of the Special
conflict situations, as recommended by the Special Representative, would like to secure the cooperation of such
Representative. Noting that the Special Representative had bodies.

visited various countries, he said that the Union Wonder%%_ Ms. Albuquerque (Portugal) wondered how

what stepsd iguld bfethtaksen t.o Ie;sure folio\t/y-up tg th@ooperation between the operational activities of the Special
recommenS? |tons 0 Idet kpe?a tert))rlgshen 6; V€ an I\:V presentative and those of United Nations bodies such as
measures >tates could take 1o eslablish a framework {9k jpjteq Nations Children’s Fund (UNICEF) and the Office
cooperation on that issue within the United Nations syste the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees could

The European Union, which attached great importance to t & promoted. She also wished to know the criteria used by the

question of the sale of children, child prost|tut|qn and Ch” é)ecial Representative in selecting the countries he visited.
pornography, also wondered whether the United Nation

could participate in the debate on the impact of ne?3. Ms. Kaba Camara (Cote d'lvoire) asked whether
technologies, including the Internet, on such activities. Steps had been taken to improve the lot of children held as

28, Mr. Fulci | 4 th hildren's righ common prisoners or prisoners of war, if the issue of street
: r. Fulcl (ltaly) noted that children’s rights WET€ children had been addressed and if personneladplkeeping

increasiqgly being yiolated, despite the fact th,a,‘t thr’?wissions were aware of the measures they should take to
Convention on the Rights of the Child had been ratified bgyrotect the rights of children

191 of the 193 States that had signed it. The Committee on )

the Rights of the Child, responsible for monitoring thé4. Ms. King (United States of America) expressed the
implementation of the Convention, was increasingIK}Ope that her Government would ratify the Convention on the
emphasizing the need to protect children in conflict situationgights of the Child before there was a change of
In that regard, his country had adopted an act on measureé\gninistration. She agreed that the minimum age for
combat prostitution, pornography, sex tourism and chifgcruitment must be raised, though netessarily to 18, and
pornography, inspired by the World Congress againggpressed concern at the fact that the existing minimum age
Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children, held irPf15 years was not yet being observed. It was doubtful that
Stockholm in 1996. That act covered the principle dhe minimum age could be raised when the existing norms

extraterritoriality and carried very heavy penalties. were not being applied. She enquired whether there was
cooperation between the initiative to take preventive

29. He welcomed the debate and statement by the Presidr%gtasureS and the humanitarian working group
of the Security Council on the question of children and arme '

conflict. In that regard, the Special Representative shoud®. Mr. Otunnu (Assistant Secretary-General, Special
indicate how the Security Council could keep that issnder Representative of the Secretary-General for Children and
permanent review. The Special Representative could enséféned Conflict), in reply to the questions posed by the
that his visits to areas affected by conflict received even widgglegation of Austria, said that follow-up activities were



A/C.3/53/SR.18

proceeding on two levels. On thelal level, delegations Special Representative. It was essential to highlight the
must strengthen the commitments made in the field by importance of field visits, and the communications media
utilizing their own channels of communication with various could make an important contribution to that effort. Finally,
sectors to demonstrate their interest in ensuring that the he thanked Mr. Fulci for the connections he had been able to
parties to the conflict fulfilled those commitments. Non- make with the Committee on the Rights of the Child,
governmental organizations could also hefrhuse they had especially in the case of children in countries affected by
their own connections. On the administrative level, the Office  conflict.

of the Special Representative maintained ties with no&-7 In reply to the question from the delegation of Guinea

oncerning Sierra Leone, he said that that had been the first
e where, after an extensive visit, he had appealed to the

governmental organizations and United Nations field staff;
that collaboration was vital, but it was adversely affected
the shortage of human resources. Although it might seem h rnational community not to wait for events to unfold, but
to believe, it took one year to engage a P-3 staff member

) make Sierra Leone a pilot case of concerted action to
one year out of a three-year mandate fully financed t%

_— . . olve the problems of women and children, to recognize the
voluntary contributions. The system must be rationalized, aEHicial role of ECOMOG in Sierra Leone and to provide it

he hoped that delegations could be of help. Cooperati h
between the Office of the Special Representative and t
operational agencies took place on various levels. When

logistical and financial support. In subsequent
fScussions with Governments, the European Union and
S . . . wfthin the context of the international conference which he

visited a country, t.he .Un|ted N'at|o.ns agencies and NORad organized in New York at which the Secretary-General
governmental organizations working in the f"?'d dreV.V up th ad presided, those ideas had been well received and they
programme, selected the' themes, provided him Widere being put into practice. The main thing now was to
|nforn?atl|on and .Iater carried out the follow-up to .h' ranslate those commitments into activities in the field, and
negotiations. An informal group at Headquarters provid r that purpose, both bilateral and collective consultations

advisory services and helped to formulate strategy, but onge |4 pe held with delegations. In fact, he had recently
again, the shortage of staff had prevented that system frgm . \sceq that issue in Brussels with the relevant
functioning properly. He himself was a member of th%ommissioners

Executive Committee on Humanitarian Affairs and czele _ '
and Security and the United Nations Development Group, ag§- He thanked the delegation of Japan for its support and
he hoped that issues concerning children would take &4 organizing the forthcoming regional symposium for Asia

fundamental importance in the work of those Committeesand the Pacific, to be held in Tokyo in November. As for the
relationship between his Office and the operational agencies,

36. With regard to the questions of the delegation of ItalM’e was determined to improve the capacity of his Office, and

he hoped t.hat that is;;ue would become important not Only\}vrbuld report on the results of his efforts to the delegation of
the Security Council and the General Assembly, but alsoﬂlpan

the Economic and Social Council; the establishment of the
“humanitarian segment” of the Council seemed to suggest t&- Responding to a question from the delegation of
it might. He hoped that Mr. Fulci, in his capacity as VicePortugal on operational linkages, he said that since the
President of the Council, would help in achieving that goaPPecial Representative had no presence in the field it was
Further progress was needed concerning the relationship wiportant to establish a sound working relationship with
the Security Council; everyone must strive to ensure that tRe€erational agencies. That was why there was an advisory
Council got used to taking into account the need to prote@foup; it also explained the importance of the Executive
children when it took decisions. He further clarified that th€ommittees, and the increased participation of the Special
Special Representative did not have — and was not suppo§&presentative in the Inter-Agency Standing Committee. With
to have — a presence in the field. Preparations in the fiel@SPect to the criteria used in selecting the countries he
were the responsibility of United Nations personnel an¢sited, there were no set rules and suggestions were
humanitarian organizations, while his function was to opedtcepted; of course, certain events called for a visit to a
doors pditically and, in certain situations, to break theparticular country at a particular time. Usually he travelled
deadlock. He thanked the representative of Italy for h{g countries where there was or had been an armed conflict.
innovative suggestion regarding the establishment of a spedi@ would like to know if there were any important cases
award; he hoped to be able to consult with experts on tf@uiring his attention, so that he could visit them as soon as
matter in the future. One of the issues to which he attachB@ssible.

the greatest importance was the promotion of the Office of the



A/C.3/53/SR.18

40. In reply to the question of the delegation of Céte Internet, and use it to disseminate legislation on children,
d’Ivoire regarding children in detention or accused of registers of paedophiles and lists of missing children and to
committing atrocities and specific crimes in times of war, he exchange information about strategies that had proved
said that the best example was Rwanda, where an attempt was  successful and should prevent it from being used for harmful
being made to provide the maximum possible protectionto purposes such as child pornography, mail-order bride
children during the trials, and to ensure the fact that they were  services and sexual slavery. Cooperation with Internet service
minors and should not receive the same treatment as adults  providers would be necessary in order to avoid conflict with
was always kept in mind. He would raise the issue when he the media or violation of freedom of the press. In investigating
visited that country. The problem of street children was an npgraphy, statistics were important as a means of
important one following an armed conflict. In many countries, increasing public awareness; however, they varied according
such as Liberia or Sierra Leone for example, the expression towho had compiled them. The main thing was not to forget
“crisis of the young” had been coined to indicate that there that the problem existed.

were children who had been uprooted and separated frgﬁl Mr. Ndiaye (Director of the Office of the High

the|r families and who were I|y|ng on the street, in camps f%ommissioner for Human Rights), replying to a question from
dlspl'aced persons orin |nst|tu.t|ons. Th?t group of Ch'ldre‘t‘ﬂe representative of Cote d’lvoire on peacekeeping forces,
received a great deal of attention from his Office. said that the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner

41. Asfar as peacekeeping operations were concerned, he for Human Rights wastedrtortraining its forces in

stressed that United Nations agencies and officials should set human rights-related issues. It was also cooperating with the
an example through their conduct, without falling into Department of Peacekeeping Operations in preparation for
complacency, and suggested that standardsmdiact should the signing of a memorandum of understanding on the
become part of the daily routine in United Nations activities. adoption of a common approach since members of
He had held consultations with the Under-Secretary-General peacekeeping forces muisbreosuch matters or help to

for Peacekeeping Operations so that everything necessary worsen the situation of children.

would be done to improve theoaduct of staff. Governments 45

. . . . He planned to attend a meeting at Glen Cove which
should also provide better training for their troops and app\lly uld deal with the question of peacekeeping operations and
stricter standards of behaviour, and non-governmenia '

e K itical Vi tth d particular, cooperation with the regional organizations and
o;gﬁn]zatlc;fn_s rr;]us; t?d e amore critical view of the condugt, guestion of human rights, including implementation of the
oftheir staif in the field. Convention on the Rights of the Child.

42. \Mth regardto the_question poseq by the delegation%. Ms. Bellamy (Executive Director of the United Nations
the United States, he wished to make it very clear that theé"?]ildren’s Fund (UNICEF)) said that the Committee’s

were .ttWO ?spedcttsh t(t) tt:e ISsue 9f the m'bnl'mlf[rhn age fQfseyssion of the rights of the child at the current session was
recruitment and that they were inseparable: the CUIT&I ;o\ jarly timely, coming as it did during the fiftieth

standarq was tOO.IOW and-must be ralsed,. but that should ?1tniversary year of the Universal Declaration of Human
prevent it from being applied. That was neither a legal nor q’\qghts. Like the other human rights instruments, the
ideological issue, but a practical one: children must R

ided with th test ol tection: the hiaher t eclaration had energized a process that was transforming
provided wi € greatest possible protection; the NIgher this \worid. A special illustration in that regard was the
minimum age, the greater the protection.

Convention on the Rights of the Child, which had been

43. Ms. Calcetas-SantogSpecial Rapporteur on the sale ratified by 191 countries. No other treaty of its kind had ever

of children, child prostitution and child pornography) amassed such alevel of supportin so shortatime. The results
expressed concern at the fact that few delegations had asked could be seen in the unprecedented gains for children that had
guestions and said that she hoped that that was notdue toa occurred in the nearly 10 years since the adoption of the
loss of interest since the Stockholm Conference. Only twoon¥@ntion by the General Assembly.e8use of the

years had passed since that event, and children remained in  Convention, children were higher on the puliiccahd po
danger. The international community should bear child- agendathan ever before and there was widesgratdmec

related issues in mind in order to prevent children from being  of their fundamental right to develop physically, mentally and
harmed by its decisions. In reply to the comments made by the sociallyto their fullest potential and to participate in decisions
Austrian delegation, she said that virtually nothing had been  affecting their future. In many countries and in every region
done in the area of the Internet, primarilyedause ofthe world, the importance of the rights of the child had been
Governments made no attempt to understand it. The reflected in concrete changes in law, policy and practice.
international community should take advantage of the



A/C.3/53/SR.18

47. The Committee on the Rights of the Child played a vital trafficking in children, problems related to HIV/AIDS and the
role in promoting and supporting that trend by reviewing and  abuse of children in armed conflict. As UNICEF had informed
assessing progress in States parties’ implementation of the the Security Council in September, it was precisely because
rights of the child and by offering guidance and supportto of their special vulnerability that children must always be a
those who worked on behalf of children’s rights. However, priority concern in action to promote peace, impleaant p
factors such as the large number of ratifications of the treaty agreements and resolve conflicts.

and the_requirement that States partic_as shogld submit rePYLE  With respect to children in armed conflict, she said that
evlery fIer yeirsuhad Lefttt_he Con;r;)wltttei W'th. an et?]ormoqﬁe excessive availability and proliferation of small arms had
volume oTwork. Urgent action must be taken since tnere Wap, o it easier to exploit children as soldiers. For that reason,

a rea:l d?nger tr;]atl thz C;c;]mrr;]ittee; might sgosn find its&liN|CEF had urged that all disarmament and demobilization
completely overwhelmed. She therefore urged States pargﬁ grammes should address the special needs of children in

to accept the prqposed amendment to art'de 43, paragr areas of education, vocational training and psychological

2, ofthe Qonventlon so that the membership of the Cm and social support. That was also why UNICEF remained
could be increased from 10 to 18 as soon as possible. unshakably committed to working to ensure that the minimum
48. Atthe same time, UNICEF would continue to work ever  age at which children could be recruited for military service
more closely with the Office of the United Nations High was raised to 18.

Commissioner for Human Rights and to endeavour to ensye  \NICEE greatly welcomed the establishment of the
implementation of the Convention on the Elimination of A“International Criminal Court, which would help bring to
Forms of Discrimination against Women and fulfilment of th stice those who committed sérious crimes against children.

commltments' made at United Na.t|0f15. summits - Italso applauded the rapid ratification of the Convention on
conferences in order_ to guarantgg glr!s r.|ght tg equall%e Prohibition of the Use, Stockpiling, Production and
development, protection and participation in society. Transfer of Anti-Personnel Mines and on Their Destruction,

49. In over 50 countries, UNICEF had responded to atriumph which would allow that treaty to enter into force in
recommendations made by the Committee on the Rights of the d®&%9. However, the Itimate effectiveness of the

Child regarding the need for technical cooperation in areas Convention would require its ratification by many more
such as capacity-building in monitoring, reporting, data countries and the prompt implementation of its demining
collection and coordination on the rights of the child; legal provisions.

reform, with speciall emphasis.on juven?le Justice; the rigrg . Itwas important to recall the report of the Secretary-

to health and educaﬂop; prot_ectpn from V|olence., exIOIOItat'%'eneral on progress in the implementation of the World

and a_buse; gender d_|scr|m|nat|.on and pro_motpn of gendlﬁ%claration and Plan of Action of the World Summit for
equality; and promotion of the right to participation. Children, which stressed the importance of the Summit

50. UNICEF had a special responsibility to help to mobilize outcome as a strategy for implementing human rights and
members of the United Nations system in programmes of called for a renewed political and financial commitment to the
technical assistance; that task had been greatly facilitated by Summit goals. The next step in that process would be the
the United Nations reform process. UNICEF was also review of progress achieved at the national level by the year
promoting enhancement of the human rights dimension in the  2000. It was an effort that must be supported by regional
United Nations Development Assistance Framework forumsin order to promote the implementation of the goals,
(UNDAF) with regard to both the implementation of that and the role of Governments was vital in that connection.

Framework and the revision of its provisional guidelines. ;5 ;N |CEE activities to enhance the mainstreaming of

51. As Co-Chairman of the United Nations Development human rights in all activities had been the driving force
Group (UNDG) Working Group on the Right to behind the preparation acdmt adoption by the UNICEF
Development, UNICEF had fostered awareness of Executive Board of a medium-term plan for the years
Governments’ legal commitments to children and 1998-2001, which was clearly anchored in human rights
consideration of the observations of the Committee on the values and standards and designed to promote and ensure
Rights of the Child. Those commitments must be honoured universal respect for the rights of the child and other human
since, despite extraordinary progress, enormous challenges rights, particularly those of women.

remained. Reviewing the situation of children throughout tl“§6 The special session of the General Assembly to be held

:/_vo_rld s_he provided alarming Stﬁ.tllztlcs cnnt?r alia, Th"df‘?” in the year 2001 and all the events related to it would offer a
ving in extreme poverty, child mortality, ma nUtrIt'on'unique opportunity to mobilize the broadest possible



A/C.3/53/SR.18

movement for children, to launch an agenda for children in  crime against the fundamental rights of the child and that the
the twenty-first century and to establish updated goals for international community could not and would not tolerate
children in the first decades of the new millennium. That such crimes. The establishment of constructive projects for
cause required strong and assertive leadership, particularly rehabilitating child victims of war should become an
on the part of Governments, and the renewed commitment and immediate priority of the relevant international agencies.

support of civil society and non-governmental organizationél_ The family of nations could rely on the continued

It also required, more ‘haf‘ cver, Initiatives b.y ChlldreEommitment of the Catholic Church to create a better future
themse,lves, as we_II as their fam|_I|es, community Ieaderfg,r children. In his message to the Secretary-General on the
women's organizations and the private sector. occasion of the World Summit for Children, Pope John Paul Il
57. Mr. Martino (Observer for the Holy See) drew had expressed the appreciation of the Catholic Church for all
attention to the situation of children in armed conflicts, which  that had beenwduher the auspices of the United Nations
changed the “springtime of life”, as the Holy See regarded and its specialized agencies to guarantee the survival, health,
childhood, into a deadly winter. In some 56untries around protection and integral development of children.

the world, children were suffering from the impact of arme 2. Mr. Ball (New Zealand), Vice-Chairman, took the
conflict. He cited figures for children killed, orphaned, injure hair.

or permanently disabled, made homeless and suffering from

serious psychological traumas. At the threshold of a néd@- M. Sucharipa (Austria), speaking on behalf of the
millennium, those numbers were distressing and indicated theropean Union and the associated countries Bulgaria,
extent of the abomination of which society was capable. Tke/Prus, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia,
H0|y See condemned all forms of exp|oitation of Ch”drer#ithua.nia, POland, Romania, Slovakia and Slovenia, stressed
particularly in armed conflict, and called on the family ofhe greatimportance which the European Union attached to

nations to ensure that children did not suffer from difficulthe protection of the most vulnerable group in society,
circumstances. children, who were being prevented from enjoying their basic

. . human rights in many ways. The European Union firmly
58. Accqrdmg to paragraph 25 Of. the Plan of ACt'On fO[)elieved that a global coalition must be forged to fight against
Implemgntlng the World Declaratlo'n on Fhe SurV'Valthe abuse of children, particularly sexual exploitation, the use
Prptecﬂon and Develppment OT Ch|ldr§n n the 1990%‘fchild soldiers and child labour. The European Union was
children needed special protection in situations of arm%ﬁ’so gravely concerned that children in all parts of the world

Conﬂ',Ct' Preventive action tq avoid conflicts was the mo%ere victims of violence, including domestic violence, which
effective remedy. However, in cases where children WeL |14 take various forms. both physical and mental

already victims of armed conflicts, immediate, concrete an

concerted action must be taken. Children in post-conflif¢. The Convention on the Rights of the Child cohged
situations must also be taken into account, and they mustth€ universal basis for the protection of children; however,
given the necessary care and treatment in order to ensure fRE€h remained to be done in order to achieve universal

today’s victims did not become tomorrow’s oppressors. application of the standards it set. On the eve of the tenth
anniversary of the adoption of the Convention, many

51?.h With reg.ard to l:ndmir?ti? h? shtressed the ilinﬂprtan&ﬁiculties still needed to be overcome and, unfortunately, not
ofthe Convention on the Profitibn of the Use, Stockpiling, all States had ratified it. The European Union strongly urged

Production and Transfer of Anti-Personnel Mines and Rose States which had not yet done so to accede to the

Their Destruction, ratified by the Holy See on 17 Februar@onvention without delay. Furthermore, many of those which

1998’_W,h'Ch could becomeglandmark n prevent.mg the deéHHd ratified the Convention had done so with substantive

or maiming ofthogsands ofinnocent children. With thg entr)éservations, some of them contrary to the object and purpose

into force and unlversql acceptance of that Convention, t fthe Convention. The European Union would continue to
problem could be eradicated from the face of the earth. object to reservations that were contrary to the object and

60. The international community could not abandon over purpose oftheddtion; such reservationsdermined the

50 million children who were victims of armed conflict. It was  Convention and seriously called into question the commitment
time to act on the solemn declarations made by the ofthe States concerned. The European Union requested States
international community. Tomorrow’s international peace and to formulate their reservations as precisely and narrowly as
security depended on the children of today; thus, now was the possible. It also strongly supported requests by the Secretary-
time to tell those who committed the abomination of sending General, the High Commissioner for Human Rights and the
children into combat that they were committing a serious Committee on the Rights of the Child that States parties



A/C.3/53/SR.18

should review their reservations on a regular basis with a psychological violence against the girl child, it was important
view to their progressive withdrawal. to introduce and enforce sanctions against the perpetrators

65. National legislation often failed to implement fullytheofsuch acts. Further attention should be paid to the situation

provisions of the Convention and other international humé)r{ glrllcht;ldl_ren '(;1 irmer(]j Conﬂ('ths' The_ _E““?pea? U_?_'On
rights and humanitarian instruments of particular relevang©"d'y believed that the gender sensitization of military
to the rights of the child. The European Union urged Stat@grsonnel should be an integral part of conflict management.

to provide the necessary legal framework and take the 69. The toll of warfare on children was unacceptable. It was
appropriate administrative measures to protect children’s estimated that, in the last decade alone, 2 million children had
rights and to commit the necessary human and financial beenKkilled, 4 to 5 million had been permanently disabled, 12
resources to the realization of those rights. million had been rendered homeless, more thiam haa

66. The Committee on the Rights of the Child had showhgen orphaned or separated from their parents and more than
tremendous commitment in its consideration of the nationap Million had been psychologically traumatized. The

reports required by the Convention and in respect of Othgproper_:m Union was ful!y convmce_d that _chl_ldren must play
very vital activities, such as the holding of a series dro partin warfare, as either recruits or civilians. Concerted

meetings with United Nations bodies and specialize%omical and diplomatic pressure must be placed on those who

agencies, and with non-governmental organizations. Tﬁgntinuously violated the rights of children, and the efforts
importance of its task fully justified the adoption of measured Fhe Special Represent_anve of th_Pf Secr_e?ary-Genera_l for
to increase the resources and the support provided to it. Chngiren and A_rmed Conflict to mobilize official and public
opinion for action should be fully supported. The European
67. With respect to the mainstreaming of children’s rightg;nion called upon the States concerned and other parties to
the European Union particularly welcomed the leading rofgjiow up the recommendations of the Special Representative,
played by UNICEF, which had adopted a rights-baseghq agreed with the latter that the needs of children in post-
approach to its work, in line with the Convention on thegnfiict situations must be addressed. The European Union
Rights of the Child. To that end, it had issued guidelines qiyled upon the Special Representative to use his role as an
rights-based programming and was conducting staff trainingyyocate for children in conflicts to speak out clearly with
activities in that new area. The European Union strongfggard to specific conflict situations in which the rights of
urged other bodies of the United Nations system to tak@igren were violated or were in danger of being violated.
similar measures to protect and promote the rights of thge European Union noted with great satisfaction that the
child. Security Council had discussed that issue on 29 1983
68. The European Union was committed to eliminatingnd had issued a presidential statement on children and armed

traditional gender stereotypes that negatively affected wome@nflict.

and to strengthening the self-reliance of the girl child, as wefy,  The European Union welcomed the successful outcome
as her voice and role in society. Therefore, it recognized tg¢ the United Nations Diplomatic Conference of
need to remove the cultural, legal and other obstacles thgnipotentiaries on the Establishment of an International
hindered the girl child’s full and equal enjoyment of hetriminal Court, held in Rome. The Statute of the Court
human rights. It also deplored any laws and legal or othgpntained provisions whiclipter alia, prohibited the use of
practices that promoted or condoned discrimination againgfiidren as soldiers and excluded the Court's jurisdiction over
the girl child. The European Union was concerned about tB%rsons under the age of 18. It was important to emphasize
persistence of gender discrimination, which often arose frofjat the Statute qualified the use of child soldiers as a war
cultural preferences for boys. In many cases, girls still did ngfime. with respect to the minimum age established for the
have equal access to education and health-care services {Bgfuitment and participation of children in hostilities, which
took their special needs into consideration, and were stjis also referred to in the Statute of the Court, the European
victims of harmful traditional and customary practices. Thgnion considered that standard, set by the Convention on the
European Union stressed the need to prohibit female genitglyhts of the Child and by international humanitarian law,
mutilation, and supported the practical steps taken Byovided a basis from which higher levels of protection must
Governments, intergovernmental bodies, non-governmenggpive. The European Union therefore looked forward to the
organizations, community organizations and religiousarly and successful conclusion of the draft optional protocol
institutions to eliminate such practices througiter alia,  on involvement of children in armed conflicts, and supported
efforts to change societal attitudes by raising awareness of fh@ consultations being conducted to that end by the
harmful effects of such practices. With regard to physical athairperson of the working group established to prepare the

10



A/C.3/53/SR.18

draft. The European Union wished to highlight the optional legislation to allow for the prosecution of persons who
character of the proposed protocol, and urged Governments engaged in child sex tourism abroad. The States members of
that were not currently in a position to accede to the protocol the European Union had undertaken a number of specific
not to hinder its elaboration. activities, such as the distribution of in-flight videos and

71. The European Union was committed to the t(),[(,Q(Plders to deter potential sex tourists. Moreover, the European

elimination of landmines, and was pleased that 40 States h%(anmission would org_anize a symp_osium on the issue in Fhe
ratified the Convention on the Prohibition of the Usegontext of the forthcoming twenty-third Brussels Travel Fair,
Stockpiling, Production and Transfer of Anti-Personndf D€ heldfrom 24 to 26 November 1998. The child welfare

Mines and on Their Destruction, so that the Convention coufdtiative launched at the Asia-Europe Meeting provided for
enter into force on 1 March 1999. The European Uniowe exchange of information on best practices in that area. The

continued to support demining programmes in ma ropean Union appealed to all States that were potentially
countries ountries of origin or ountries of destination of offenders to

_ ~take immediate action against child sex tourism.
72. Among the factors that led to a steady increase in the

use of children as soldiers were technological developmer?t@' The European U”if’“ agre_ed With t_he Speci_al
and the proliferation of weapons, particularly light arms Sudﬁapporteur on the sale of cl_mldren, child pro;t_ltutlon and c_hlld
as the latest types of semi-automatic rifles, which were “ngrnc_)grapfly that the media must be se_nsmzed on the issue
enough to be carried by children evender the age of 10. of children’s rights. The European Union condemned the

The European Union welcomed the Mali initiative and othe?!oread_ Of_ child pornography and, n par_tlcula_r, 'FS
efforts to curb the spread of small arms. dissemination on the Internet. The production, dissemination

and possession of child pornography in all its forms must be
73.  The European Union strongly believed that the sexuglohibited. The European Union trusted that States would
exploitation of children was one of the most despicable meapgorporate the necessary provisions into their national laws
by which the rights of children were violated and that the onlyng that international cooperation in that area would be
way to combat the problem effectively was through vigorousnhanced. It urged the working group on a draft optional
national action and effective international cooperation. '[ﬁ'rotocol to the Convention on the Rights of the Child on the
particular, it was necessary to combat child prostitution, s@4je of children, child prostitution and child pornography to
tourism and child pornography, including its disseminatiogake significant progress, at its next session, towards the
through the Internet. early conclusion of its work, preferably before the tenth
74. The World Congress against Commercial Sexuanniversary of the Convention. Action against that type of
Exploitation of Children had led to the adoption of &hild abuse could not be effective without the cooperation of
Declaration and Agenda for Action aimed at the establishmeptates, the United Nations system, non-governmental
of a global partnership to combat that scourge. In follow-uprganizations and private enterprise, including on-line
to the World Congress, a European regional conference Hgivices and Internet service providers.

been held on 28 and 29 April 1998 in Strasbourgler the 77 child labour was another form of exploitation to which
auspices of the Council of Europe. The objectives of thghjlgren throughout the world were subjected. According to
conference had included the identification of the problemgcent ILO studies, at least 250llon children between the
encountered by Governments in implementing t"%‘i‘ies of 5 and 14 were obliged to work, often in conditions that
recommendations of the World Congress. At an interregionggre harmful to their physical and mental health. Child labour
meeting attended by 25 European Union and Asian countriggs poth a consequence and a cause of poverty, and slowed
as well as the European Commission, the participants h@gwn economic and social development. In view of the
launched a joint initiative on child welfare that includeq,, ency of adopting and implementing new legislation against
measures to combat the commercial sexual exploitationm% exploitation of child labour, the European Union
children. welcomed the discussions held at the eighty-sixth session of
75. According to a recent International Labour Organizatidhe International Labour Conference with a view to the
(ILO) study, the current economic hardships in South-Eag@option, in 1999, of aanvention against the most extreme
Asia had led to the expansion of the sex industry. Child sé'ms of child labour. Since access to primary education was
tourism continued to be of great concern to the Europe@he of the most effective tools for reintegrating and
Union. It was necessary to increase international cooperati@abilitating child workers, the European Union welcomed
between the offenders’ countries of origin and countries 8f€ appointment, by the Commission on Human Rights, of a
destination. Several countries had strengthened th&Recial rapporteur on the right to education.

11



A/C.3/53/SR.18

78. The European Union wished to highlight the serious comments and recommendations concerning periodic reports.
impact of human immunodeficiency virus/acquired The Committee must be provided with more resources and
immunodeficiency syndrome (HIV/AIDS) on children. It facilities for the effective performance of its functions, in
deplored the fact that, owing to child prostitution and sexual accordance with Commission on Human Rights resolution
abuse, a growing number of children were infected with HIV.  1998/76. In that resolution, the Commission also called upon
Consequently, it welcomed the thematic discussion on States parties to accept the amendment to paragraph 2 of
children and HIV/AIDS organized by the Committee on the article 43 of the Convention, which would increase the
Rights of the Child at its most recent session. membership of the @teardtom 10 to 18 experts upon its

79. States’ reports to the Committee on the Rights of tff&1"Y Into force. The Rio Group appealed to those States
Child confirmed the fact that children with disabilities tended"/¢h had not yet done so to consider accepting the

to go unnoticed in society. The European Union ha?jmendment as a matter of urgency.

welcomed the thematic discussion held by the Committee on  83. The Rio Group took note, with satisfaction, of the Plan
the Rights of the Child in 1997 on the rights of children with  of Action of the United Nations High Commissioner for
disabilities, as well as the recommendations formulated on Human Rights to strengthen the implementation of the
that occasion. Children with disdities had the same rights Convention on the Rights of the Child, and appreciated the
as other children and should be included in all activities in  support which UNICEF provided to States parties at all stages
society, particularly in the educational system. Both the ofthe implementation and reporting processes. It should be
Convention on the Rights of the Child and the Standard Rules borne in mind that the current situation of millions of children
on the Equalization of Opportunities for Persons with in many parts of the world remaitied @s a result of poor
Disabilities called for action to promote the principle of equal economic and social conditions, poverty, armed conflicts, the
opportunity for children with disabilities. exploitation of child labour and the sale of children, child

80. The European Union firmly believed that it Wagrostitution and child pornography, and that the number of

necessary to promote human rights education, since educaﬁgﬂdren infected with HIV/AIDS had risen at an alarming

played a vital role in the development of all children, anffte-

should include the reagnition of their rights as young 84. The Rio Group welcomed the discussion held during
citizens. The European Union urged all States to accept fully the sixteenth session of the Committee on the Rights of the
their responsibilities in that area and in all areas related to the  Child on children with disabilities, as well as the commitment
protection of children. to the elaboration of a plan of action to ensure the inclusion

81. Ms. Morgan-Moss (Panama), speaking on behalf 0]ofsuch children in society. At the same time, it supported the
the Rio Group, pointed out that the Convention on the Righ‘f‘éork of the Special Rapporteur on the sale of children, child

of the Child was one of the most widely accepted internationglfos_titUtion and child po”_‘ogfaphy’ as well as that of the
instruments, since, only eight years after entering into forc\é(orklng group of the Commission on Human Rights on a draft

it already had 191 States parties. She urged those Staﬁégonal protocol to th_e Conventipn on the_Riths ofthe Ch”d
which had not yet done so to ratify or accede to th@n the sale of children, child prostitution and child
Convention as a matter of priority. Such action must be tak@ﬁrnography.

without delay in order to achieve the objective of universal 85. The Rio Group reiterated its concern about the need for
acceptance established at the World Summit for Children and a prompt and lasting solution to alleviate the suffering of
reiterated in the Vienna Declaration and Programme of children caught in wars and armed conflicts. Adequate
Action. Owing to its nearly universal acceptance, that protection must be provided to refugee and internally
instrument constituted the necessary legal basis for all United displaced children. In that connection, the countries of the Rio
Nations activities to promote and protect the rights of the Group reiterated their strong and decisive support for the
child. That was all the more important because, in planning  Special Representative of the Secretary-General for Children
its activities, particularly those related to development, the and Armed Conflict and the great importance they attached
United Nations increasingly gave priority to the protection tothe invitations he had received to visit countries in which
of human rights and fundamental freedoms. there were situations of armed conflict. They also supported

82. The countries of the Rio Group appreciated the wome efforts of the working group of the Commission on Human

of the Committee on the Rights of the Child, which deservéﬁights on a draft optional protocol to the Convention on the

greater support and recognition. States should continueFﬂg:JlFS of the Child on involvement of children in armed
strive to take into account and implement the Committee®@Nflicts.

12



A/C.3/53/SR.18

86. The Rio Group wished to highlight, in particular, the deliberations of the Committee on the Rights of the Child

importance of the initiative taken ih998 by the President of concerning children with digdbs, as well as the

the Security Council and the Secretary-General to hold a collaboration and exchanges among various United Nations

public debate in the Security Council on the involvement of bodies to promote the rights of children.

children in armed conflicts, which had represented aa‘b
c

inqovative means of publicizing the painiul sitgation of SUCebt burden that contributed to the increase in poverty and
ch![I:rgnt. ltWé:.S |mp|)ortadnt that Governmertltsl, in Coo.pe;.at'oé}fected the political and social sectors, SADC reiterated its
with International and non-governmental organizationg,,, ¢, urgent, effective, equitable, development-oriented and

should take the necessary steps to eh_mma_te Q'Scr'm'nat%r@/rable solutions to the problems of external debt and debt
customs and practices harmful to girls, in line with thgervicing in the developing countries

recommendations of the Fourth World Conference on Women. _
The Rio Group reaffirmed its continued commitment t§1. Women and girls accounted for 50 to 55 per cent of the

making every effort to promote and protect the rights of aRopulations of countries in southern Africa. Although some
children. progress had been made in improving their political,

. o ) economic and social situation, the benefits achieved were
87. Mr. Andjaba (Namibia), speaking on behalf of the, et especiallyin comparison to their large numbers and
Southern African Development Community (SADC), said thah o enormous contributions to society. Education for women
the countries members of the Community had taken nOte\ﬁgs particularly important, since, in addition to promoting

the report ent!tled “Progress on the implementation of tnﬁeir advancement, it had the direct effect of improving the
World Declaration and Plan of Action from the World Summ'health of their children. The health status of women and

for thldren” (A/53/186). Wh”e they welcomed thec ildren in some SADC countries was a serious problem
considerable progress made in areas such as the neg ng to the deterioration of health-care services,
universal ratification of the Convention on the Rights ofthﬁ1 Inutrition and the impact of structural adjustment
Child, the eradication of guinea worm disease, increas pii

¢ oral rehvdration th ducti £ boli ogrammes. The following year, the Commission on the
coverage of oral rehydration therapy, reduction of polio cas atus of Women would discuss the issue of health and, he

and promoti'on of breastfeeding, they regrettgd that Suﬁlaped,would focus on the problems of girl children. SADC
progress varied greatly across countries and regions, and WEfled on Governments and national and international

especially concerned about the slow progress in reduc'ggvernmental organizations to implement fully the

.malnutri.tion e_md,materna.ll mortality, improving sanitation an onclusions adopted in 1998 by the Commission, especially
increasing girls” education. the one on the girl child, which highlighted the need to end

88. SADC would work with Governments, the United the widespread discrimination against girls. SADC hoped that
Nations and non-governmental organizations in preparing for  the relevant draft resolution would be adopted once again by
the special session of the General Assembly to review the consensus and that the number of co-sponsors would increase.

achievement of the goals and targets agreed upon at the W 51 The AIDS epidemic was resulting in a rapid increase

S””f‘m“ for Children a}nd to commemorate t_he N the number of orphans and child-headed households,
anniversary of the entry into force of the Convention on tr;f

ially i b-Sah Africa, where th t f
Rights of the Child. Experience had shown that those go ghecialy In sub-sanaran Alrica, Where the pereentage o

Id b i ies displaved suffici litical will hans had tripled or quadrupled in some countries. It was
cou’d be met If countries displaye su icient po.|t|ca Wiestimated that, bythe year 2010, at least 4&iom children,
if all stakeholders were able to participate and if adequ

. . : &ost of them living in sub-Saharan Africa, would have lost
resources and suppqrt were provided. Th.e ”.“emat'or}ﬁre or both parents. At the SADC Summit of Heads of State
community S.hOUId st_r|ve tq promote the objept|ves of thﬁeld in September 1998 in Grand Baie, M#us, it had been

World Summit for Children in sub-Saharan Africa. noted that AIDS was not only a health issue, but also a

89. SADC encouraged United Nations entities to follow the  development issue. The participants had also discussed the
example of UNICEF by taking the rights-based approach into  preventive measures taken at the regional level, especially in
account in formulating country programmes, since protection the health and employment sectors, and had urged member
of the rights of children and women was essential to human States to continue to make concerted efforts to combat the
progress. It commended UNICEF for its continued support epidemic through the elaboration of an intersectoral plan of
of the Committee on the Rights of the Child at all stages of the  action for the region. At their SeptE®®Bemeeting, the
implementation and reporting processes, and welcomed the SADC Council of Ministers had adopted a policy document
decision to address the issue of education in the 1988ad for the health sector and a biennial plan f999-2000,

of The State of the World’s Childrert took note of the which had identified five priority areas: HIV/AIDS and

Since Africa continued to suffer from a heavy external

13



A/C.3/53/SR.18

sexually transmitted diseases; communicable diseases, 95. The Governments of South Asia had chosen the year
particularly malaria and tuberculosis; standardization of 2000 as the deadline for ending child labour in hazardous or
health information systems; mobilization of human and bonded condition2@h@ for the eradication of all child
financial resources; and reproductive health. Tloe@il had labour. Bangladesh had abolished child labour in the garment
also approved a proposal to conduct a study on strengtheningustry, which was its largest export sector. However, the
tuberculosis control. The participants in the Summit had number of poor children continued to rise, indicating the need
signed an addendum to tHE997 SADC Declaration on for national action and international cooperation at all levels,
Gender and Development, indicating that the SADC as well as the allocation of substantial resources, since
Governments would adopt specific measures in the areas of children’s rights were closely linked to the right to
legislation, public education, training and awareness-raising development. Children must be protected from violence,
and service provision. With a view to improving the which was endemic in some areas, and child victims of
nutritional status of children, the Council had approved terms  violence must be reintegrated into society.

of reference for the agricultural sector, as recommendedgét_ Trafficking in children was an extremely serious

the Ministers of the food, agriculture and natural resourc%%blem National awareness campaigns and training for

sector. enforcement authorities could help to prevent it. Regional and

93. SADC was aware that armed conflict was part of the international efforts must also be made to dismantle
reality of its member States, and would give due consideration trafficking networks and extend support to the victims. An
to the recommendations put forward in the report of the important step in that direction had been the endorsement, by
Special Representative. SADC called on the Secretary- the South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation
General to ensure that the office of the Special Representative (SAARC), of a regional convention to combat trafficking in
was provided with the human resources needed to carry out women and children. Immediate steps must be taken to stop
its mandate. In 1998, for the first time, the Securipu@cil the sexual exploitation of children; in particular, every effort

had addressed the issue of children affected by armed mustbe made to complete the draft optional protocol on the
conflicts, and SADC commended the Special Representative sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography.

for his efforts in that regard. SADC agreed that the minimu
age of recruitment and participation in military activitie§

should be raised to 18’_ fully suppor.ted the draft o_ption duction, recruitment, displacement and sexual exploitation.
protocol to the Convention on the nghts of the Child angp plight of such children had been highlighted by the
hoped that the new mandate of the Chairperson of the Work|§%eCial Representative, who needed the support of all

group of the Commission on Human Rights would break th:ebuntries in order to pursue his work. Assistance efforts

current stalemate. Lastly, SADC applauded the adoption {14 hegin during hostilities and should continue during the
the Statute of the International Criminal Court, which woul o

b . hanism for th . ¢ child st-conflict peace-building process. Since girl children were
€ an important mechanism for the protection of chi renparticularly vulnerable, there was an urgent need to defend

94. Mr. Chowdhury (Bangladesh) said that, despite the their rights, particularly by offsetting, through legal measures
efforts of UNICEF, Governments, organizations, civil society where necessary, the effects of discriminatory perceptions and
and the media, limited progress had been made in the practices and by providing equal opportunities in the areas
protection of the rights of children. At the approach of the of education, health and nutrition. Bangladesh had the honour
General Assembly’s special session in 2001, it had become to initiate the proposal to declare the period from 2001 to
clear that strong political commitment, widesprea@010 the International Bcade for a Culture of Peace and
participation of stakeholders and the provision of adequate Non-Violence for the Children of the World, and hoped that
resources were necessary. All United Nations bodies, all States would support that decision during the current
especially UNICEF, should cooperate to achieve the session.
objectiv_es of the World Summit for_ChiIdrep. Speciab& Ms. Cyanzayire (Rwanda) said that Rwanda would
emphasis should be placed on protecting the rights of pois

|

. Another priority area concerned the rights of children
armed conflicts, who faced numerous dangers: landmines,

disabled child d child A ¢ are no effort to cooperate with the international community
or disabled children and children in situations of arme seeking solutions to the various problems that affected

conflict, who were the most vuinerable groups. POVer%ousands of children tbughout the world. The promotion

reprgsente_d the Worst_ V|ol_at|on of human rights, since hd protection of the rights of children were very important
deprived children of their childhood, and the worst examp Rwanda for a number of reasons, in view of the many

of that phenomenon was child labour, which was an evﬂroblems which the country had faced since the94
practice that must be abolished. genocide, which had particularly affected children by leaving

14



A/C.3/53/SR.18

thousands of orphans unprotected and often obliged to live  Child, ratified in 1990, had been explicitly incorporated into
alone and take on the responsibilities of heading a family. domestic law.

Many others had been traumatized by the atrocities they hf614 The right to education was reaffirmed in Rwanda’s

witnessed and experienced. Constitution, which provided that primary educatidrosid

99. The number of street children had risen considerably, be free and compulsory, subject to the parents’ obligation to
giving rise to uncontrolled juvenile delinquency. Moreover, participate in the education of their children. The law on

it must be recalled that a considerable number of children had  national education reflected the provisions of article 29 of the
taken part in the genocide at the instigation of adults. Added Convention on the Rights of the Child by stipulating that
to that were the nutritional problems and diseases that had education should be directed to the moral, intellectual and
been a direct consequence of the particularly difficult physical development of children and should provide them
economic situation of a country still pursuing the withthe basic knowledge they needed to live in society and
reconstruction process. to have an impact on the country’s socio-economic situation.

100. Despite its many diffidties, her country was 105. The sexual exploitation of children was prohibited and
determined to protect children and promote their rights. To severely punished under the Criminal Code, as were the
that end, her Government had adopted a series of measures abduction and torture of minors. The law provided that youth
to alleviate the problems she had already enumerated and to  should be considered an extenuating circumstance in the case
contribute to the harmonious development of children. All  of children between the ages of 14 and 18 who were accused
parts of the country had shelters for children who had no of offences, and that criminal responsibility could not be
families or who had been separated from their parents, which  attributed to childden the age of 14.

were supported b,y th? Ministry of.SociaI Aﬁgirs; the mgdiumios_ Ms. Nishitateno(Japan) said that her country had put

and long-term objective was to find foster fdies in which eat effort into international cooperation to enhance the

r
such children could lead a more balanced social life. Thoiﬁelfare of children. Despite Japan's difficult economic
children received free education, thanks to the fund set up Wuation and budget constraints, it continued to make

the Government to help victims of the genocide and trU?)Iuntarycontributions to UNICEF, the Office of the United
massacres. Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR), the

101. Traumatized children were cared for in centres that World Health Organization (WHQ) and other international
provided specialized care and expert advice to enable them organizations that provided relief to children in need. It had
to rebuild a normal life. In addition, steps had beentakento also promoted bilateral aid, especially in the fields of
provide homes for street children in social service centres, education, health and medical services. Recently, the
where they could continue their education and learn simple international community had paid more attention to the
trades. With respect to children in conflict with the law, protection of children affected by armed conflicts.
particularly those who had participated in the genocide, International organizations such as UNICEF, UNHCR, the
children under the age of 14, who could not be held criminally  Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (OCHA)
responsible before the law, were sent to rehabilitation centres, and the International Committee of the Re€CR@sxd

where they received training and preparation tditate their well as relevant non-governmental organizations, played a
psychological readjustment and reintegration into society. crucial role in providing humanitarian assistance to children
102. In the area of health, the Ministry of Health waémd others in need. Japan therefore intended to continue to

conducting prevention and immunization campaigns onwde support to such organizations.

combat endemic diseases that affected children. In that regard, 107. As ihhadreed earlier in the Security Council,
Rwanda was grateful for the support of the international Japan would host a symposium on children and armed conflict
community and of organizations that dealt specifically with  in November 1998, in cooperation with the office of the
the problems of children. It also appreciated the efforts of Special Representative, United Nations University and the
civil society, which had lent invaluable support to the Japan Committee for UNICEF. The Special Representative
Government's activities. Many associations had focused their would be the keynote speaker, and senior officials of
efforts on the establishment of orphanages. interested Governments and international organizations, as

103. With respect to Rwanda’s fulfilment of its international’€!l @ representatives of non-governmental organizations,

commitments in the area of promoting and protecting tﬁ’t‘éoqld gather in Tokyo to par_ticipate in discu_ss_ions on thr(_ee
rights of the child, she was pleased to report that most of tR bjects: advocacy and public awareness-building, protection

principles laid down in the Convention on the Rights of th children in conflict situations and rehabilitation and

15



A/C.3/53/SR.18

reintegration of children in the context of post-conflict peace- (S/PR$9I8/18) adopted by the Securitpncil in June

building. Japan hoped that those debates, in which a number 1998, as well as the work of Mr. Olara Otunnu, Special
of related issues would also be discussed, would contribute Representative of the Secretary-General for Children and
to the effort to improve the situation of children affected by Armed Conflict. It also welcomed the Special
armed conflicts. Representative’s recent field visits and the various

108. Inview of the large number of children who, during O;ecommendations contained in his report (A/53/482).

after armed conflicts, became victims of landmines, Japan 113. The delegation of the Republic of Korea was deeply
hoped that its acceptance, on 30 September, of the concerned aboutthe recruitment of children as soldiers, since
Convention on the Prohition of the Use, Stockpiling, that practice not only increased children’s likelihood of
Production and Transfer of Anti-Personnel Mines and on becoming victims of armed conflicts, but also had a profound
Their Destruction would encourage other Member Statesto  impact on their psychological development. Because they
join international efforts to achieve a universal and effective learned to kill at an early age, such children lost part of their
ban on landmines and strengthen cooperation in demining humanity and saw killing as a guiltless act. His delegation
activities so that children would nohger be exposed to that  supported the early adoption of the draft optional protocol to
deadly hazard. In that regard, the Phnom Penh International aiimee@tion on the Rights of the Child onviolvement of

Forum on Demining and Victim Assistance would be held in  children in armed conflicts. The United Nations working
late October, with the support of the Japanese Government, group on that issue had not yet agreed on the minimum age
to provide information on the demining and victim assistance for military recruitment. It e@sssary to opt either to set
practices that had proved most successful in Cambodia. The the highest possible standards and win limited acceptance,
participants would also discuss the protection of children or to improve current standards while accommodating the
from anti-personnel landmines through mine-awareness interests of all States partiesoto/tr&iGn; in that regard,
activities. it must be borne in mind that nearly all States had ratified the

109. The sale of children, child prosition and child Convention.
pornography were other issues that urgently required the 114. According to ILO statistics, about half of the world’s
attention of the international community. Since the World 250 million working children between the ages of 5 and 14
Congress against Commercial Sexual Exploitation of were involved in an exploitative form of labour. His
Children, held in Stockholm in Augudi996, the Japanese delegation was pleased that the International Labour
Government, in cooperation with UNICEF, had engaged in Conference, which had met in Geneva in June, had made
activities to raise awareness on those issues. considerable progress in its discussions on the establishment
e% new international instruments on the prohibition and
iImmediate elimination of the worst forms of child labour. He
& affirmed his Government’'s commitment to participating
bodies. It also exchanged information and cooperated in tﬁaﬁtive_ly in international effo_rts to eradicate the_ exploitation

Hf child labour. However, it must be borne in mind that

area with the International Criminal Police Organizatio : . . .
(ICPO), which had been conducting surveys and researchR§iY "ty was the primary cause of the proliferation of child

crimes related to child pornography, among other activitieléa.bour and that parents often preferred that their children
P graphy. g should be mistreated rather than that thiegidd go hungry.

111. Japan welcomed the resolution on action to combgerefore, it was necessary to set the immediate goal of
international trafficking in women and children, which the|iminating the most extreme forms of child labour, while
Commission on Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice h%‘i’multaneously working towards the long-term goal of
adopted at its seventh session, and continued to supportgliginating all forms of child labour. At the same time,

working group on a draft optional protocol to the Conventiogoyerty eradication efforts must be vigorously pursued.
on the Rights of the Child on the sale of children, child _ :
prostitution and child pornography, as well as the dra 5. With respect to the serious problem of sexual violence

optional protocol on involvement of children in armediNd exploitation, it was not enough for countries to express
conflicts. their outrage at the worsening of that phenomenon; immediate

action was needed. His delegation supported the
112. Mr. Ma Young-sam (Republic of Korea) said that recommendation contained in the report of the Special
immediate attention should be paid to the needs of childrefapporteur on the sale of children, child prostitution and child
who were usually the first victims of war. In that regard, hi%ornography (A/53/311) that international standariisusd
delegation  supported the presidential statemeRg set. Moreover, it was important to strengthen punitive

110. Since all those problems transcended national bord
Japan participated actively in related activities organized
the United Nations, the Asia-Europe Meeting and oth

16



A/C.3/53/SR.18

measures against not only the adults who were involved in the
exploitation of children, but also the customers of that
immoral business. Countries must make concerted efforts to
finalize the draft optional protocol to the Convention on the
Rights of the Child on the sale of children, child prostitution
and child pornography by Septemki399, when the tenth
anniversary of the Convention would be commemorated.

116. In the area of health, immunization campaigns were
essential, since 9 million children died each year as a result
of preventable infectious diseases. However, the private
sector had hesitated to invest in the development of vaccines
for children because they felt that that was not a profitable
activity. In follow-up to the World Summit for Children,
United Nations funds and programmes, including the United
Nations Development Programme (UNDP), had played a
major role in establishing the International Vaccine Institute,
which was based in Seoul. His delegation appealed to the
international community to provide the cooperation and
support needed to enable the Institute to carry out its
important work. International cooperation was indispensable
for enabling countries to honour the commitments made at the
World Summit for Children, as well as their obligations under
the Convention on the Rights of the Child. Children could not
understand why they were made to suffer by adults, who
should be their protectors. Therefore, and because children
represented the future of humanity, the international
community had a duty to provide them with a secure
environment.

The meeting rose at 6.20 p.m.

17



